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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ELIZABETH B. SANDZA,
Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 15-732ESH)

BARCLAYS BANK PLC , et al.,

Defendans.

s N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff, a former partneat the noweefunct law firm Dewew LeBoeuf LLP (“D&L”
or “the Firm”), brings this suifgainst Barclays Bank PLC (“Barclays”) and three of its
employeegthe “individual defendants”). & alleges that defendants conspired withHih@a’'s
managemertb fraudulently induce her and other noranagement partners to take out capital
loans with Barclays, the proceeds of whiekre used t@rop up thdailing Firm and effectively
securitize the Firm’s owloanswith Barclays (SeeCompl. [ECF No. 1] at 1-4.Central to the
alleged scheme was a concerted effort to “keepdimernanagement partners in the dark as to
the Firm’s financial affairs,” which encouragpdrtners to take out the capital loans and
forestalled a mass exodus from the Firf8ed idat 23.) As a result, she alleges tlsite was
injured when the Firm filed for bankruptcy in May 2012, aswsasunable to recovdrercaptal
contributionsand other deferred compensatiarhich she would not have agreed to defer had
she knowrof the Firm’s condition (See idat 2)

She assertsne claim against the individual defendantsgarticipationin a RICO

violationunder 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)ld( 11 5675.) She also asserts nine claims against

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2015cv00732/171750/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2015cv00732/171750/18/
https://dockets.justia.com/

Barclays:(1) respondeat superiaunder RICOI(. 1 7679); (2) deriving income from a RICO
violation under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1962(&).(T1 80693); (3 conspiracy to commit RICO violation
under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(dy( 19 94103); (4 fraud (d. 11 10410); (5 criminal conspiracyid.
19 11219); (6 aiding and abettingd. 1 12026); (7) negligenced. 11 12746); (8 breach of
fiduciary duty (d. 11 14770); and (9 dedaratory relief that plaintiff's loan agreement with
Barclaysis unenforceablad. 11 17179).

Defendants have moved to dismiss on a variety of grourgieDefs.” Mot. to Dismiss
[ECF No. 7]; Def. Martin’s Mot. to Dismiss [ECF No. 9] (joinieg-defendants’ motion to
dismiss)) The Cout need nofaddress many of those argumeht&cause foseveral alternative

reasons, plaintiff's complaint cannot survive.

BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Elizabeth Sandzaas a partneat LeBoeuf Lamb, Greene & MacRae, LLP
(“LeBoeuf”) from 1989 until 2007, when that firm merged with Dewey Ballantine CIOB")
to form D&L. (Compl. § 1.) Throughout Ms. Sandza’s terag@ D&L partner, the Firm
carried a significant amount of delating back td.eBoeuf's merger with DB. See id{{ 24,
40.) Plaintiff alleges that, in 2005, DB began requirmgeased capital contributions from its
partners as a result of its debt burden, which grew from approximately $3shrml2005 to
$145 million soon fier the 2007 merger, and by 2010, D&L owed approximately $160 million.

(Id. 11 910, 24, 40.) DB (and postergerD&L) facilitated these capital contributions by

! The Courteednot consider whetheplaintiff's RICO claims are barred by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act (Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss 1317) andarealso timebarred (d.
at 1719); plaintiff's aiding and abetting claim fails as a matter of lalvdt 3739); plaintiff's
criminal conspiracy claim fails as a matter of las &t 4243); plaintiff's declaratory judgment
claim is not cognizable as a separate cause of addicat @3); andlaintiff has failed to serve
defendant Martin, and in argvent the Courlackspersonal jurisdiction over hesge generally
Def. Martin’s Mot. to Dismiss).



directing partners to Barclays, which had establishcapital loan prograrthat gave partners
access to the necessary fundsl. 11 11, 25.)

Plaintiff took out twoloans with Barclays a$38,000partner capitaloan in 200%nd a
second loan for $125,000 in March 2010, a month before she left the fdny. 1) The
proceeds oplaintiff's capital loan veredeposited with the Firm in her capital account, and she
alleges that, upon her departure in April 2010, the Firm was obligated to repay the loaerfrom
capital account and transfer temainingbalance tdher. &ee id.{1, 13-14.) However, when
she sought the return of her capital accdadance, the Firm refused to release those funds,
insteadsuggesting she take out the second, $125,000 loan with Barcised.(f 46.) Having
been assured by the Firm that it would repayidhe, she executed the agreemeid. 1 47.¥
She also agreed with the Firm to accept deferred compensation of $850,000, payable over 11
years starting in 2011, to make up for amounts she had been underpaid in previousdydars. (
1)

Separately, Barclays was also a creditdd&t , having extended an unsecured $5
million loan in August 2007 and an unsecured $30 million credit facility in 20a@8Y 22, 34.)
It is these loans that plaintiff alleges gave Barclays tbevento conspire with the Firm, for,
having extende&35 million in unsecured loans a failing Firm, Barclays sought to protect

itself by inducing the partngito take outapitalloans, which would be usdy the Firmto pay

2There is some ambiguity in the complaint regarding how this loan was used, eithethas a
capitalcontribution to the Firmf{om which she was leaving imminentlgy for plaintiff's own
benefit,i.e., an advance on the disbursement that the Firm refused to make upon her departure.
CompareCompl. at 3, T 1 ($125,000 was a “partner capital loan,” and plaintiff's $200,000 total
capitd contribution was “financed for the most part by Barclays’ capital loagran”) with id.

1 46 (alleging that the Firm suggested she take out a capital loan in lieu afdencge

disbursement of her capital account). This issue is not especially releviamirietant motion,

but it is worth noting that if she personally received the benefit of the $125,000 loan, then it
would be difficult to see how repayment of that loan injured her.
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off its own loanswith Barclays (SeeCompl. at 2-3. In other words, according to plaintiff's
theory,theunsuspecting partners would be left holding the bag for the Fermgining
personally liable for theicapitalloans while the Firm’s own loangerefully repaidas of
December 2010.Seed. at 23, 1 42.)

The alleged scheme depended upon keeping non-management partners in the dark about
the Firm’s troublesthus inducing partners to make additional capital contributions and
preventing a mass exodus from the partnership ravtkshin turnallowed the Firm to remain
viablefor alonger period. $ee idat 3.) Paintiff alleges thatlefendants (1) excuséde Firm’s
defaultsunder deprted partners’ loan agreemeatsl failedto inform partners abotiiose
defaults and (2)failed to disclose to plaintiff and other partners the Firm’s poor financial
condition. Geed. at 23.) As to the defaults, she alleges that the Firm faibedpay departing
partners’ capital loans, and when the Firm’s growing indebtedness under thosedahes a
certain amount, a default was triggesdticting every partner loan agreemerged id{{ 13,
17-18.) She does not allege that the defaults themselves caused her any injulyebtltaiat
their disclosure by Barclays would have alerted her to the Firm’sidlznecial straitsallowing
her to make “better decisions or at least take[|sstepnitigate her damages.Sde id | 73.)

Plaintiff also alleges that Barclays and Firm managerm@mimitted “approximately 114
instances of mail and wire fraud,” with Firm management “disseminating fadsaisteading
financial statements... to non-management partners,” and Barclays “providing the means
whereby these partners could make capitalcontributions to the Firrh (See idat 1-:2.) She
makes very few specifigllegationsas tothe individual defendants, claiming only that they each
worked for Barclays on the D&L accoumd (19 3-5); that theyhad “superior knowledge tie

Firm’s financialsituatiori (id. at 4);and that they formedaassociationn-factthat “engaged in



a pdtern of racketeering activitynter alia, by continuing to offer the capital loan program”
without disclosing the Firm’s dire financial conditi@d. 11 59, 63).
In the end, the Firm filed for bankruptcy in May 2012, ataintiff alleges that it was not
until that time that shkearned of thé-irm’s defaults andts underlying financial problems.d(
at 3, 1 118.) Th&irm’s bankruptcy preveetdher from recovering any of her deferred
compensation, and in January 2014, she agreed to repay Barclays her outstanding loan balance of

approximately $134,000, while reserving the right to bsaig against Barclays.ld. 11 1, 92.)

ANALYSIS
LEGAL STANDARD : RULE 12(b)(6)
To survive a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under Rulg(&R(h
complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘statmdcialief that

is plausible on its face,” such that a court may “draw the reasonable infehantiee defendant

is liable for the misconduct allegedA&shcrdt v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll

Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). The plausibility standard “asks for more than
a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfuiijpal, 556 U.S. at 678. Thus,

“[flactual allegations must be englu to raise a right to relief above the speculative level, on the
assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful)it fRsombly

550 U.S. at 555 (citations omitted). In ruling on a 12(b)(6) motion, a court may aofiesite
alleged in the complaint, documents attached to or incorporated in the complaint ofatte

which courts may take judicial notice, and documents appended to a motion to dismiss whose

authenticity is not disputed, if they are referred to in theptaimt and integral to a claimJ.S.

ex rel. Folliard v. CDW Tech. Servs., In€22 F. Supp. 2d 20, 24-25 (D.D.C. 2010).



.  IMPLAUSIBILITY

At the outset, defendants argue for dismissal on the ground that Ms. Sandza’s
overarching theorgf liability strainscredulity. (SeeDefs! Mot to Dismiss a?-9; see also
Igbal, 556 U.Sat678.) The gravamen of her complaint istiBarclays conspired with Firm
management to induce her and other non-management partners to take out capital loans, the
proceeds of whickwvould “eliminate[] Barclays’ exposure on the Firm’s credit facilitiesSeé
Compl. at 3.)At first glance, this theory has soméuitive appeat—Barclays overextended
itself to a troubled=irm andthen upon learning of its dangerous exposure, figured out a way to
use normmanagement partners to effectively securitizsRihm’s loans. The problem for
plaintiff is thather own allegations seriously undercut this theory.

First, the lynchpin of the alleged scheme, Barclays’ capital loan prograsput into
place nearly two yeatseforeBarclaysfaced any exposure on fisst loanfor $5 million to the
Firm. See idfY 9, 11, 22.) Next,|antiff alleges thaBarclays learned of the Firm’s
difficulties in 2007 when it received financiaformation from the Firm that it “knew was false
and misleading.” Seed. 1 48 see also idf 99 (“In late 2007 and early 2008, management
developed a scheme, with the knowledge of Barclayto.inject capital into the Firm and keep
the Firmviable”).) According to plaintiff, ather than cutting off all tiespon learning ofhe
misrepresentatioand underlying financiakoes howeverBarclaysextended th&irm a second
unsecured30 millionline of creditin 2008. (d. 1 34) Evenif Barclays only learned of the

Firm’s troubles in lat007,after it extended thAugustloan, Barclayswould still have hd to



extendan unsecured $30 million line of crediith full knowledge thathe Firmwas both in
financial trouble and lying abdiuit.3

Thatimprobabilitydoes not mean, however, tlildmissals warranted Seelgbal, 556
U.S.at681(“To be clear, we do not reject these bald allegations on the ground that they are
unrealistic or nonsensical. . . . It is the conclusory nature of respondent's atiegatiher than
their extravagantly fanciful nature, that disentitles them to the presumptionhgf)trhe
plausibility standard looks to the factual sufficiency of the complaint, réthe the probability
that plaintiff can ultimately prove those factSeeTwombly 550 U.S. at 556 A] well-pleaded
complaint may proceed even if it strikes a savvy judge that actual proof offtictses
improbable, and that a recayas very remote andnlikely.”) (internal quotations omitted).
Therefore, it is immaterial flefendantsre correcthat“[n]o bank, concerned enough about a $5
million exposure that it would hatch a byzantine plot to eliminate it, would in the midsttof th

plot increasets creditexposure sevefold.” (Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 8.)

[ll.  FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM —ALL COUNTS
At bottom,all of Ms. Sandza’slaims and legal theories rest tovo centralallegatiors:
(1) defendantgailed to disclose that, at the time ghek outher capital loas, the Firm had

already defaulted on its obligations to repay capital loapsediously departed partners, which

3 Defendants have also attached to their motion to dismiss taitsdmetween Barclays and the
Firm, suggesting that Barclagéferedanother$20 million line of credit to the Firm in April

2010, but it was rebuffed in part because Barclays was “more demanding thanntls¢ dtiner
banks in respedf financial information” (SeeEx. 3 to Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss [ECF No.4j-at
11-15.) As plaintiff alleges, both of the Firm’s outstanding loans were repaid in 2010 (Compl. |
38), which from Barclays’ perspective was the very object of the alleged msiee idat

3). Itis highly implausible that Barclays would increase its exposure®@yn#Ron at the same

time its alleged conspiracy was about to succeed. That said, then@lboot consider these

emails on a motion to dismiss, and it declines defendants’ invitation to convert the mation int
one for summary judgmentS¢eDefs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 9 n.7.)
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caused her own loams immediatelygo into defaultgeeCompl.at 1-4); and (2) defendants
failed to disclose that the Firmmas faing dire financial difficulties.(Seeid. at 4 (“The
Defendantsll had numerous opportunities to educate the Plaintiff about what was going on at
the Firm, but chose not to disclose the Fgitmue financial condition and the fact that the Firm
was already in default status on its@clays’debt obligations).)* Eventhese allegations
overlap, in that the “defaults” themselves had no financial consequences faffphaint
disclosing their existencgould have revealed toerthe Firnisfinancial troubles. eePl.’s
Opp’n at 4 (“Plaintiff's injury does not stem from whether the Firm was in defauh certain
date . . . [but rather] is a direct result of Barclays’ failure to discloseriaddtects[about the
Firm’s finances] . . .”).) Haddefendantsnade these disclosures to Sandza, she alleges that she
“would not have enrolled in the Barclays capital loan program, and would have withfilogm
the Firm unless adequate measures were taken to reform managemenpractices.” (d.
74))

Because there were no unremedied defaults for Barclays to disclose, an@ Bacalza
fails to allege a cognizable dutyquiring defendant® disclose the Firm’s financial condition

(even assuming they had notice of this conditiallpf her claims fail as a matter of law.

4 Plaintiff's oppositionalsoweaklyasserts thadefendants actively disseminated
misrepresentations¢iting to Paragraph 107 of her colapt. (Pl.’s Opp’n at 21.) However,
Paragraph 107 merely alleges a fraudulent sch@epétrated by the Firm. . [that involved]
disseminating the false message that the Firm was in good financial conditiich’Barclays
allegedly aided and abetkte (SeeCompl. § 107 (emphasis added).) Even if the Court were to
infer that Barclays aided the schemealso making fraudulent misrepresentations, such a bare,
conclusory allegation would not satigfybal, let alone the heightened specificity requiesrnof

Rule 9(b). Seeb56 U.S.at681; Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Therefore, the Court finds no support in the
complaint for a reasonable inferertbat defendants made affirmative misrepresentations.
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A. Unremedied Defaults

Plaintiff alleges that, “under Barclays loan documentation,” the Firm wagabddi to
apply the balance afeparting partnergapital accourst towards the outstanding amounttadir
Barclays loas. (Complff17-18.) When several partners departed and the Firm took no action,
the Firm’s resulting indebtednesgygereda default, and, due to a cross-default provision in the
loan agreementghe loans of all participating partners also went into defaldt.{{16-18.)
Nonetheless, according to plaintiBarclaysallegedlychose not to enforce itgght to immediate
repayment after those defawltsandnot to inform plaintif or otherpartners about them—
because doing so woulcave revealed the Firmaeteriorationthereby‘precipitating an exodus
of partners . . [and] ensuring the Firm’s collapsgSee idf{ 53-54) However, plaintiff's
allegations of unremedied defaults redirefy upon a misreadingf theoperativeloan
agreemerst®

Ms. Sandza’s loan agreement consists of three sectioresfdtility letter setting forth
the terms of her agreement with Barclays; (2) Schedule A, an Instruetiten in which plaintiff
requestedrom the Firma Partnership Undertaking in connection with her loan; and (3) Schedule
B, the Partnership Undertaking executed by the Filgeelx. 2 to Defs.Mot. to Dismisgthe

“Loan Agreement”)) The relevant “default” provisioappears ifParagraph 10.1(j) of the

5 Plaintiff did not attachihe loan agreement to her complaint, butrgtied on it repeatedly in
support of her “default” allegationsS€e, e.g.Compl.13, 17-18, 21.) As such, the Court

will consider the copy that defendants attached to their motion to disBegsanover v.

Hantman 77 F. Supp. 2d 91, 98 (D.D.C. 1999W]here a document is referred to in the
complaint and is central to plaintgfclaim, such a document attached to the motion papers may
be considered without converting the motion to one for summary judgimevioreover, the

parties agree that plaintiffsapitalloan agreement is materially identical to those of other Firm
partners. $eeDecl. of Andrew Johnman [ECF No. 7-10] 1 3; Pl.’s Opp’n at 4 (English court
decisions involving different Firm partners intesfed “the very same contract drawn up by
Barclays”))



facility letter, which states that plaintiffiean will go into default “in the event of any

indebtedness of the Firm in excess of US$250,000 becoming immediately due and payable . . .
by reason of default on the part of any persomd” § 10.1(j).) Next, Paragraph ii(b) dfet

Partnership Undertaking provides that the Fimill“apply the balance of the [departing]

Partner’s Capital Account in satisfying (so far as is possible) anytediedss remaining

outstanding under the Loan with the Bank, before paying any residue to the Battnire

Partner’s legal personal representative$d’ gt Schedule B ii.) Thereforeplaintiff's

argument goes, the Firm’s failure to apply departing partners’ captalats toward their

outstanding loans created a shortfall in excess of $250,000, thus sending Sandza’s own loan into
default. GeeCompl. 41 13, 17-18.)

Theloanagreement providdbat it “shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of England.” Loan Agreemenf 11.1.) Suclachoice-of-law provision is given
effect under D.C. law as long as there is a “reasonable relationship” withabencjurisdiction,
which is satisfiedvhen one of the parties has its principal place of busindbat jurisdiction.
Seeladd v. Chemonics Int’l, Inc603 F. Supp. 2d 99, 115 n.11 (D.D.C. 200B¢cause
Barclays’ principal place of business is London, England (Compl.tf&¥;ourt will construe
the loan agreement according to English law.

In determining how the relevant “defaufifovisions would be interpreted under English
law, the Court can rely orahy relevant material or sourcePed. R. Civ. P. 44.1.t must
predct what English courts would findinless those courts haakeeady addressdtie issue.
SeeAnglo Am. Ins. Grp., P.L.C. v. CalFed, In899 F. Supp. 1070, 1077 (S.D.N.Y. 1995).
Herg there is no need to predict how English law wdddapplied, becauske Courtalready

has the benefit of an English courit$erpretatiorof this exactprovision. See Barclays Bank
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PLC v. L. Londell McMillan[2015] EWHC 1596 (Comm)in McMillan, Barclays sued a
former Firm partner for repayment of his capitan, and the partner defended on the grounds
that he had relied upon Barclays’ false, implied representation that no unremedidts de
existedat the time héook out the loanSee idff 17(6), 21. The English court found no merit
to this defense, holding that tRe@m’s only obligation under Paragrap(b) of the Partnership
Undertaking is “negative in formrequiring the Firnto refrain from paying the capital account
balance to the departing partner in preference to Barctegs.idy 71(6)(allegation of
unremedied defaults “fails as a matter of fact and law”). In other wordsth§ile is no

payment to the partner there is no breach of obligation to [Barclalgs].”

Just so herePlaintiff does not allege that the Firm paid dogmer partners in prefence
to Barclays. Orthe contrary, she alleges that the Firm refusaderousequests for capital
account disbursements, including plaintiifstn. (SeeCompl. 1 46.) Thereforegbause there
were no unremediedefaultsunder English law, there could not possibly have been any failure
by Barclaysto disclose them. Thuanyclaims relating tdundisclosed defaultsiecessarily fail
as a matter of law.

Plaintiff's attempts to respond to this conclusion are unpersuasixst, she attempts to
distinguishMcMillan because it involved a different procedural postuee,a contractual
defense to the enforcement of a loan agreegmatter thara tort actionin which only one count
“even remotely touches upon the question of contract interpretatiSeeP(.’s Opp’nat 34.)

In making this argument, plaintifjnoresthe fact that issues of contract interpretation permeate
her entire cause of actioand that, regardless of the procedural posture, the English court
considered and rejected the very sanm@é&medied defallargument she advances he&ee

McMillan, [2015] EWHC 1596 (Comm) J 7). Next, she contends that, evethis Court
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were to accep¥icMillan’s holding, it musstill allow expet discovery regarding English law,
because a different English court found that the dBanelayscontractmight support a claim
that the capital loan was a sham transaction. (Pl.’s Opp’n at 4 (Bdéiodpys Bank PLC v.
Landgraf [2014] EWHC 503 (Comi).) This is anon sequitir Even if another English court
had foundhata loanbetween Barclays andFarm partner was a shafrom the outset, it would
not follow thattheterms of thdoan agreement requirg¢de Firmto satisfythatpartnets debt,
which isan entirely unrelated issud hus, there is no reason to allow discovery,Hergarties
have only identified one English decision addresthiegallegediefaults, and iforcefully
rejectedthe veryargument that plaintiff makes here

These “defaults” fornthe foundation of plaintiff€ase and without them, her other
allegations quickly crumble. For instanbey claimseekinga declaratiorthat the loan
agreemerstare unenforceableannot be sustained, becausedts solely on the fact that she
made the agreements without knowledge of the defai@eseQompl. 1 171-79.)

Similarly, her allegations that defendants committed (or conspired with the Firm to
commit) mail and wire fraud must also be rejected. She identifies two types otlaliege
fraud: (1) the Firm’s dissemination of misleading financial statements, “whidmtheidual
defendants] were well aware of,” and (2) Barclays’ continued offering aatégans “with
superior knowledge that the namanagemenpartners were relying upon false and misleading
financial statements (SeeCompl. at 1-2.) In other words, lidity arising from eithettype of
alleged wire fraud depends upon defendants’ knowledge that the Firm had put outdalselfi
statementsSee First Am. Corp. v. Al-Nahyah/ F. Supp. 2d 10, 33 (D.D.C. 194BICO
defendant’s ignorance of illegal adty is an absolute bar to liability unless that ignorance is

willful or reckless). But the only specific allegation that defendants knevalsie financial
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statements restentirely on the noexistent defaults. See e.qg, id. at 2 (“Barclays specifically
knew that the Firm was not disclosing to the moamagement partnetisat: (a) the Firm was
already in default under several of its Barclays partner capital loans;)dmgédbtering into the
Barclays capital loans, the partners wbtllemselves be automatically angdnediately in
default to Barclays. . .”);id. 1 19(a) (Barclays knew that “such events of defaultwere not
disclosedn DB’s 2006 audited financial statementst); 1 24 (“[S]uch financial statements . . .
did not disclose D&L'’s defaulted obligations to repay any capital loans of ddpgzattners.”).)
Plaintiff does not specifically allege that Barclays knew about any dibenepancies the
financial statementgnd the Court will not crediterunsupported speculation to the contrary.
(See idf 69 Barclays “knewat a minimumthat [the financial statements] did not disclose
material facts pertaining ta .the Firm's repeated defaults”) (emphasis added).

Factual support foplaintiff's conspiracyclaimsalsoerodesonce the defaults are
disregarded, aBarclays’ alleged agreement to secretly excuse the defaults formeditie
basis for the conspiracySé¢e idf 101.) Plaintiff alleges thaté conspiracy was formesbon
after Barclays learneaf the Firmis financial trouble in order to keep the Firm in business and
ensure that Barclays was repagl$35 millionin loans. See idf1 99101 (RICO conspiracy);
id. 1 112 (common law conspiracy)}joweve, again, the onlgpecific allegation that Barclays
had advance knowled@é the Firm’s struggless that itknew abouthe non-existentdefaults.
(See idf 98 see alsad. 1175(a) Barclays made capital loamsth “superior knowledge about
the truefinancial condition of the Firm ansbecifically as to the existing defaults under the
capital loan prograr) (emphasis added)

At one point, faintiff vaguely alludeto Barclays’ awareness of insufficient “projected

Firm revenues(id. 1 114),but she does not providaydetail about thse projections that might
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make theaallegation plausibleSeelgbal, 556 U.Sat681 After all, her complaint isddled

with allegations that the Finpublicly releasedalse financial recorde(g, Compl. at 1-2, 1 36
and that an auditor concluded that the Rivassuccessfully hittingts net profit benchmarks
under its Barclays loan agreemends &t 4) Without more factual elaboration, it is difficult to
reconcile these allegatiomsth the notionthatBarclaysthe Firnis $35 million creditor, had
information abouthe truerevenue projections. The same problem undermines her allegation
thatBarclaysknew of“inflated contracts'given to incoming Firm partners, whiellegedly
should have altedBarclaysof the Firm’simminent failure (Seed. at 23.) Given thaher
complaint repeatedly alleges that the Firm falsified its finame@rds(see,e.qg, id. at 1-2, |

36), she offes insufficient facts to show how or why Barclays would hkeagnedhat these
contracts were, in fact, inflatedn short, withouthe defaults that allegedtyppedBarclays off,
Sandza’'ssomplaintlacks any explanation as bmw Barclays went froranunknowinglenderto
anactive participant in the Firm’s fraudseeTwombly 550 U.Sat 557 (“[W] ithout that further
circumstance pointing toward a meeting of thieds, an account of a defendantommercial
efforts stays in neutral territaty. As suchherconclusoryallegationghat Barclays knewfo
insufficientprojectionsor inflated contracts aneot enough to support a plausible inference that
defendant®itherknew about the Firm’s problems or conspired to cover thenSeplgbal, 556

U.S.at681.

B. The Firm’s Financial Condition
It should gowithout saying that a party cannot be held liable for failing to disclose
information that it does not posseee, e.g.Restatement (Second) of Torts 8§ 8§11977)
(one party to a business transaction may have a duty to disotasters known to hirthat the

other is entitled to knoly (emphasis added). Because plaintiff has not adequately alleged
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defendants’ knowledge of the Firm’s financial problems, her allag#tat theybreached their
duty to disclose those problems must necessarily fage Gupréart Ill.A.)) But even if
defendants did know this information, Sandza hasdetuately alleged that they were
obligatedto disclose it to her.

In order forthe allegedailure to disclos@o be actionableplaintiff must first allege that
defendantfiad a cognizablduty tomake that disclosureSeeSununu v. Philippine Airlines,
Inc., 792 F. Supp. 2d 39, 51 (D.D.C. 2011D.C. law provides that nondiscla® of a fact can
constitute a fraudulent misrepresentation . . . [if] there is a duty to $peHker complaint
contairs bareallegations osucha “duty.” (E.g, Compl. § 139 (“Based on this continuous
failure to disclose material facts re the Firm's true financial conditiarc|®/s breached the duty
it owed to the non-management partners . . id”)f 143(b) (Barclays “failed to discharge its
duty to the normanagement partners. ). The complaint alsassertghat, because plaintiff's
loan agreement contained an English chaoitkaw provision, Barclays had a duty to disclose
arising under English law.Id. 158 (alleging a duty arising under Paragraphs 2, 13.1, and 13.4
of the U.K. Banking Code and PRIN 2.1(9)).) In response to defendants’ citation of numerous
casesholding thatcontractual choicef-law provisions do not apply tort claims(Defs.” Mot.
to Dismiss at 35 n.33Ms. Sandzdails to dte any relevant.S. law. Instead, she doubles down
on her assertion that English law applies, arguing that “the duty to speak aroseeffadadiary
duty owed by Barclays to Plaintiff under thentractuallychosen English law. (Pl.’s Opp’n at
21-22))

Even if the Court were to assume thatEmglishprovisionsthatplaintiff citesare
binding sources of law, rather than voluntary codes of conduct (as defendanty strgng

(Defs.” Reply at 19))there is simply no basis for applying Engllalwv to plaintiff's tort clains.
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The English choicef-law provision governingontractclaims between the parties “simplges
not covertort claims arising from the same underlying events unless the parties so”inSasd.
Minebea Co. v. PapsB77 F. Supp. 2d 34, 38 (D.D.C. 20@énphasis added)in Papst the
court found no such intent where the agreement simply stated “This Agresmaéite
governed by and interpreted in actance with the Laws of New York.Id. (emphasis omitted).
Plaintiff's loan agreement contains a virtually identical chat&aw provision (“This facility
letter shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Eng(&odn
Agreement] 11.1)). It goes on to state thaiptiff shall submit to the personal jurisdiction of
the English courts if Barclays “files an action to enforce the terms of the loan(ld. 1 11.2.)
Thereforethe agreemenacks any indsia of intent that English law shld apply to tort claims.
Under D.Claw, the general rule is that one party to a transaction has no duty of
disclosure to the othemless (1}the party is a fiduciary of the other, or (2) freatyknows that
the other is acting unaware of a material fact thah@bservable or undiscoatile by an
ordinarily prudent person upon reasonable inspect8@eSununy 792 F. Supp. 2d at 51.
Neither exception is applicable her®.C. law establishes théft]he relationship between a
debtor and a creditor is ordinarily a contractual relationship and not a fidueiatipmship:
See Ponder v. Chase Home Fin., L1666 F. Supp. 2d 45, 49 (D.D.C. 2009). Awception can
be foundif “a special relationship of trust or confidence exists in a particular daipso, Inc.
v. Mann 541 F. Supp. 2d 365, 373 (D.D.C. 20(8jernal quotations omittedwhere the parties
extend their relationship beyond what the contract reqafrdeem See Paul v. Judicial Watch,
Inc., 543 F. Supp. 2d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 2008). Howeydaintiff does not pleadnyspecific facts
thatsuggest somethingore than a standararmslengthdebtorereditor relationship (See

Compl. § 168 (making only a bare assertion of a “special kind of relationshipfakt, &
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defendants point out, Ms. Sandza does not even allegBataays had any direct contact with
her, with perhaps the exception of her January 2@tdement to pay off her Barcldgsn
balance (SeeDefs.” Mot. to Dismiss at-3; Compl. § 1.)

Instead plaintiff allegesthatBarclays “knew or should have known how bad things
were” at the Firm (Compl. § 150), and that she “had no opportungggioire similar knowledge
of the inner-workings of the Firm.”ld. { 162.) As noted, it is true that one party’s superior
knowledge can give rise to a duty to disclagkenit knows that the other party is acting
unaware of a material fact that isriobservabler undiscoverabldy an ordinarily prudent
person upon reasonable inspectioB&e Sununw92 F. Supp. 2d at 51 (internal quotations
omitted) But as discussegblaintiff's allegations thaBarclaysknew of the Firm’s poor health
rest almosentirely uponits alleged knowledge that the Finbefaulted on its capital loan
obligations, whichthe Court has already rejectednd even if Barclaysdid know of the Firm’s
poor heath, plaintiff does not explain®arclays could havienown thatSandzalid not knav
(and could not have discoverdatg precariousgssof her ownFirm's finances Indeedas a
Firm partner, she had the statutory right to insgsdiooks. SeeN.Y. P'ship Law § 41
(“[E]very partner shall at all times have access to and may inspect and cogiy|drey
partnership books].”). The mere fact that Barclayesgedly“knew that [plaintiff] for the most
part would not scrutinize quarterly and/or annual financial statemes@sCompl. § 157pffers
her no comfort, because her own lack of diligence does not tnage factsindiscoverable
See Sununw92 F. Supp. 2d at 51. By the same token, the fact that the Firm may have refused
her access to its bookseeCompl. 1 163) does not cure the problé&mcause she does not allege

that Barclays had any knowledge of that unlawéfiisal.
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In short,even assumingrguendothat Barclays did have superior knowledge of the
Firm’s financesplaintiff fails to allegespecificfactsto support an inference thaarclaysknew
whatshehadnotlearnedand could nohave discovereds apartnerof the Firm As such,
Barclays canot be charged with a duty to disclose. To hold otherwise would ingpose
extraordinary burden on creditorgnopellingthem to disclose basinformation about the
debtor’s own business, on the offance thathe debtor may have been too busy to discover it
herself 6eeid. 11 153-57pr may havebeenunlawfully refused that information by her own
partnergsee idJ 163). Tis failureto adequately plead a duty to discloseams thaher
negligence, fraud, and breach of fidargi duty claimsannot survive. By extensionygnthe
Court’s rejection of her default allegatiomgither can any of her remaining claims

Furthermorefor the reasons set forth below, there are two additional arguments that
doom plaintiff’'s claimshercivil RICO claims are insufficiently pled, an@ihstate law claims

are untimely.

IV. FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM —-CIVIL RICO COUNTS

Plaintiff first alleges that the individual defendants participated in a RICOpeis&imn
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1962(c). (Compl. 1 56-75.) To state a claim under that subsection,
plaintiff must alleg€’(1) the conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) througlatiggn of racketeering
activity.” Salinas v. United State§22 U.S. 52, 62 (1997)'Racketeering activity” is defined to
include acts of mail fraud and wire fidul8 U.S.C. 8§ 1961(1)(B), and there must be at least two
suchpredicateacts to constitute a “pattern3alinas 522 U.S. at 62.

Where the alleged predicate acts invaivail orwire fraud, as here, plaintiff must satisfy
the heightened pleadirggandardf Rule 9(b), whichat a minimumrequiresthat defendants be

given “fair notice of the plaintiffstlaims and grounds therefore, so that they can frame their
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answers and defensesSee Bates v. Nw. Human Servs.,, 466 F. Supp. 2d 69, 88-89 (D.D.C.
2006) (quotindgFink v. Nat'l Sav. & Trust Co.772 F.2d 951, 963 (D.C. Cir. 1985)). Typically,
that means “stat[inghe time, place and content of the false misrepresentations, the fact
misrepresented[,] and what was retained or given up as a consequence of theSeaudates
466 F. Supp. 2dt 89 (quotingU.S. ex rel. Williams v. MartiBaker Aircraft Co, 389 F.3d

1251, 1256 (D.C. Cir. 2004 )see alsdV. Associates Ltd. P’shgx rel. Ave. Associates Ltd.
P’ship v. Mkt. Square Associat@385 F.3d 629, 637 (D.C. Cir. 2001R[fCO claims premised
on mail or wire fraud must be particularly scrutinized because of the relatevevgasvhich a
plaintiff may mold a RICO pattern from allegations that, upon closer scruakingot support
it.”).

Under such a demanding standard, plaintiff's allegations of mail ardfraiud are
woefully deficient, fortheonly specific fact she alleges is that there were “approximately 114"
such instances.SeeCompl. at 1.) She does not allege a time or a placanfpof the alleged
frauds, nor does she attribaey of them to the individual defendants, let alone attempt to
delineate which individual defendant committed which frau&ee (dat 1-2 (alleging only that
Firm management arlarclayscommitted114 instances ofire fraudbetween 2007 and
2012.) Even if the Court were tead“the individual defendants” in plac# “Barclays—as it
would have to do in analyzing a claim against the individual defendants—it would wtilhba
idea which of théapproximately 114 instances” are attributable to Firm management (asd thu
irrelevant to this analysis). And evbkardescription of théasic content of Barclays’ alleged
fraud is frustratingly opaqueBarclays“provid[ed] the means whereby these partnevuld
makecapital and other financial contributions to the Firm based ofalse.informatior’ (See

id.) Certainly, afair reading of that allegation is that Barclays committed wire fraud by afferin
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loanswithout disclosing material factbut as discussed abgy#aintiff has failed to adequately
allege that Barclays even knew these material fd&@sesupraPart Ill.A.) Absent specific facts
indicating that Barclays had this knowledge or conspired to concdsd iyére loan offer
thenselves cannot constitute wire fraud, and as such, plaintiff's Section 1962(c) ctaunt fai
under both Rule 9(b) and 12(b)(6).

By extension, of course, her related countréspondeat superidiability against
Barclays—based on the same RICO allegations rejected abowusst also belenied (See
Compl. 11 76-79.)An employer’s vicarious liabilityecessarilgepends upothe liability of its
employees, whichas not been adequat@lhgd here. SeeCrawford v. Signet Bank79 F.3d
926, 929 (D.C. Cir. 1999) In the absence of agent liability, therefore, none can attach to the
principal’).

Next, plaintiff alleges that Barclays violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a), which prohibitsé¢éhe
or investment of racketeering income in an enterpriSeeGompl.ff 8093.) In order to state a
claim under this subsection, plaintiff must adequately allege that she was injiBacckays’
use or investment of racketeering incomagher than by the racketeering activity itself.
Danielsen v. Burnsid®itt Aviation Taining Ctr., Inc, 941 F.2d 1220, 1229 (D.C. Cir. 1991t
is not sufficient to allege injury flowing from the predicate acts of rackiaged. Her
explanatios of both the “reinvestment” and causataedifficult to parse. She identifis the
“racketeering income” as “the monies induced by fraud from the Plaintfbéer non-
management partner victims,” and she alleges that “Barclays, through thelGootip . . .
reinvestedthe capital loan fundsr the Firm?” (SeePl.’s Opp’nat 14(emphasis in original)

It is unclear how Barclays can be charged with “reinvesting” loan funds in tihe Wwiren

plaintiff allegesthatthe partnergshemselvesontributed those funds to the FirnSee, e.q.
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Compl. T 25 (partners could choose to make their capital contributions up front in cash, by
withholding from draws, or by participating in Barclays loan progra)j 172 (Barclays loan
program would “fundpartners] required capital contributions to the Fityx) Barclays merely
provided her the access to the funds, but plaintiff does not expi@nlegalbasis Barclays
would have had for controlling the use of those funds or directing them elsesderehat it
could be held liable merely foallowingtheinvestment . . . into the Firm."Sge idf 93
(emphasis addeq).In fact,the onlyracketeering incomBarclaysitself is alleged to have
received—"interest on loans and credit facilitiesis notalleged to have been reinvested back
into the Firm. (SeePl.’s Opp’n at 14.)

Moreover this alleged “reinvestment” and the deferred compensanijomny lack a causal
connection, because her own allegations show that she would have suffered the injury eithe
way. She allegs that the reinvestmenaused her a separate injuidi.), because she would not
have agreeddtaccept deferred compensatltad Barclaysnot delayed the Firm'’s collapse by
allowing the investment of the capital funds into the Firm” (Compl. § 93). In other wbeds
Firm woud have collapsed but for that reinvestment, and because the Firm had not ye¢dpllaps
she was inducetb accept deferred compensatighccording to her own allegations, thehe
Firm would have already gone bankrupit for that delayand she would never have seen the
deferredcompensation anywaynstead, as she alleges elsewhere in her compilaentieferred
compensation injury is simply a second, consequential iflmmng from her unawareness of
the Firm’s problems(SeeCompl. { 73 (“Had Barclays disclosed the truth about the Firm's
operations . . . the Plaintiff would not have agreed to deferred comperezratingements to be

paid over future periods.”).Furthermoreshe claimsleferred compensation damages under her

21



Secton 1962(c) counas well(see id), putting to rest any notion that they constitute a separate
and distinct “reinvestment” injury.

Finally, plaintiff alleges that Barclaygolated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) by conspirmgh
Firm managemertb commit a RICO violation. SeeCompl. 11 94-103.)The Court has already
rejectedher allegations of an underlying Section 1962(c) violation by the individual defendants
which would ordinarily mean that her related conspiracy claim must alsgjdced. See
Edmondson & Gallagher v. Alban Towers Tenants Ad8r+.3d 1260, 1265 (D.C. Cir. 1995).
However plaintiff allegesseparatelyhat the Firmalsocommitted wire fraudvith defendants’
knowledge. $eeCompl. at 1.) This allegation could serve as a separate basis for finding a
RICO conspiracy, but for the fact that, once the amistent defaults are disregarded, plaintiff
fails to allegeenoughspecific factdo permita plausible inferencenat (1) Barclays knew about
the Firm’s problems, or (2) conspired with Firm management to cover thenSee.s@prd&art
lll.LA.) Plaintiff's bare assertions that Barclays “knew or should have known” how bad thing
were at the Firm (Compl. § 150), or that it “had to know” that themanagement partners were
taking out loans based on false informatimh &t 4), cannobe asubstitutefor specific
allegations of factrom which to infer that Barclays did, in fact, have such knowledge.

Therefore plaintiff fails to state @onspiracy claim under Section 1962(d).

V. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS —-STATE LAW COUNTS

The statute of limitations for plaintiff's state law claiwisfraud, negligence, breach of
fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting, conspiracy, and declaratory ieliefee yearsSeeD.C.
Code 8§ 301(8)As such thoseclaims must be dismissed as thp@red if they accrued prior to
May 14 2012. SeeCompl. (filed May 14, 2015).) The Firm filed for bankruptcy jugb

weeksafter that dateid. at 3) and it was only then that plaintiff alleges that ahd the other
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non-management partners first learreddhe Firm’s “defaults” andfinancialwoes(see id

118). In other words, she suggesistshedid not have actual knowledge of her potentialokai
until at leastMay 28, 2012, and therefore retate lawclaims are timely.As it must at this

stage, the Court credipdaintiff's assertion that she did not have advance notice of the Firm’s
troubles, no matter how implausible that may seem in ligh{ttpthe Firm’s alleged refusal to
return her capital account balanne2010 {d. 1 46) (2) the Firm’s allegedinlawfu refusal to
allow her to inspect its booksl( { 163);(3) theslew ofnews articles publicizing &Firm’s

troubles prior to the bankruptcy filifgand (4)hernaturalinterestin her priorFirm, which owed

® See, e.g.Duff McDonald,Dewey & LeBeuf: Partner exodus is no big de&ortune, Mar. 22,
2012,available athttp://fortune.com/2012/03/22/dewésboeufpartnerexodusis-no-big-deal/
(noting that despite Firm’s claim that its finances were sou8@,partners have fled the law

firm after an earnings miss in 2011”); Jennifer Smith & Ashby Jdvlese Partners Leave

Dewey & LeBeu LLP, The Wall Street Journal, Mar. 23, 2042ailable at
http://blogs.wsj.com/law/2012/03/27/shakaip-deweyleboeufoverhaulsits-leadership/
(describing a “flow of [partner] defections since the start of the year” dads'po cut lawyers

and administrative staff, following lower than expected profits in 2011"); Lirztall8r &

Sophia Pearsomewey & LeBoeuf Approaches Deadline on $75 Million Bank [Bibbmberg,
Apr. 27, 2012available athttp://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2012-04-27/dewey-
leboeuf-approachedgeadlineon-75million-bank-deb{Firm facing “deadline teshow bank

lenders it has a survival plan, possibly including absorption by another firm”y; [Retean,
Dewey & LeBoeuf Said to Encourage Partners to Lelesv York Times, Apr. 30, 2012,
available athttp://dealbook.nytimes.com/2012/04/30/devielyoeutsaidto-encouraggpartners
to-leave/(beginning “Dewey & LeBoeuf, the New York law firanippled by financial
mismanagement, an exodus of partnersaoedminal investigation of its former chairman
encouraged its partners on Monday evening to look for another job . . . .”) (emphasis added);
Andrew Longstreth & Nate Raymont@lhe Dewey chronicles: The rise and fall of a legal titan
Reuters, May 11, 2012yailable athttp://www.reuters.com/article/tdeweyrecap
IdUSBRE84B00L2012051@escribing a January 2012 meeting of Firm partners at which they
were informed by Firnchairman Steven Davis that “[t]he firm was living on the edge [of
bankruptcy].”). This list is by no means comprehensive: the Wall Street Jeuraal Blog

alone publishedbrty articles detailing the Firm’s pending collapse between March 2012 and the
bankruptcy filing. Seehttp://blogs.wsj.com/law/tag/dewdgboeuf/ The New York Times
published at least twenty-five such articles in that same peSed.
http://query.nytimes.com/search/sitesearch/?action=click&contentCollectgidh=TopBar&
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her nearlya million dollars(see id.J 103). Even sdier state lavelaimsareuntimely because
shehad inquiry noticeof themprior to May 14, 2012See Drake v. McNai©93 A.2d 607, 617
(D.C. 2010)actual or inquiry notice sufficient to trigger statute of tations).

Under D.C. law, a claim usually accrues at the time the alleged injury odaiars.ond
v. Davis 680 A.2d 364, 389 (D.C. 1996). Here, plaintiff alleges that she was injured wehen sh
took out capital loans and agreed to accept deferred compensation, without full knowkbege o
Firm’s problems. $eeCompl. § 124.) That would ordinarily mean that her claims accrued by
March or April 2010at the latest. Seed. § 1.) However,Where the relationship between the
fact of injury and the alleged tortious conduct is obscure when the injury occuts,td@urts
apply themoreforgiving discovery rule.SeeBussineau v. President & Directors of Georgetown
Coll., 518 A.2d 423, 425 (D.C. 1986). Sandflages that defendants’ failure to disclose the
Firm’s problemskept her from recognizing her injury until the bankruptcy filisgdCompl. |
118), and as such, the Court will apply the discovery rule to her claims.

Under the discovery rule, claim accruesSwhen a plaintiff has either actual or inquiry
notice of (1) the existence of the alleged injury, (2) its cause in fact, and (8)estaience of
wrongdoing” Drake 993 A.2dat617. A plaintiff need not know everything about her potential
claimsbefore the statute will run, but insteatiemust only know (or have reason to know)
enough to give rise to a duty to inquire furth€eeDiamond 680 A.2dat 389-90 At that time
if a potential plaintiff, in the exercise of reasonable diligenoald learn enough to justify filing
suit before the expiration of the limitations period nttiee statute begins to rurid. at 390.

Whether a plaintiff can be charged with inquiry notice is governed by an objeetindaslj.e.,

WT.nav=searchWidget&module=SearchSubmit&pgtype=Homepage#/dewey+%?2a#l&ooe
m20120301t020120528/.
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what a reasonable person would have domaintiff's circumstancesSes Hendel v. World
Plan ExecCouncil 705 A.2d 656, 664 (D.C. 1997). As such,gotential plaintiff may be
legally accountable for investigating a possible claaforelearning ‘some evidence of
wrongdoing”—if enough information is available to her that a reasonable person would
investigate and thus leaafi the wrongdoing, then she has been put on inquiry no8ee.
Diamond 680 A.2dat 39Q see also Ray v. Queem7 A.2d 1137, 1141-42 (D.C. 20Q0The
critical question in assessing the existevgenonof inquiry notice is whether the plaintiff
exercised reasonable diligence under the circumstances in acting or failingnordeitever
informationwas available tgher].”) (emphasis added).

There is no question that information about the Firm’s pending collapse was available
Ms. Sandza in the months leading up to the bankruptcy fili8ge éupran.6(and articles cited
therein)) There is also no question that this was the very information she claims should have
been disclosed when she took out the loansagneedo accept deferred compensation, thus
causing hemjury. (See, e.g.Compl. 1 73-74.) Moreover, the available navigles offered
herfar more than the simple fact that the Firm was in troub2012; hey also clearly alerted
her to the possibility of fraud by Firm management, including the overstatenyaetvaius

years’ earningé Even accepting her contention that she had no actual knovdétgeFirm’s

" See, e.gJulie TriedmanDewey & LeBoeuf's 2010, 2011 ProfiRgevenues Revisethe
AmLaw Daily, Apr. 3, 2012available at
http://amlawdaily.typepad.com/amlawdaily/2012/04/dewey-2010-ZdBhcialsrevised.html
(noting that the Firm earned “far less” in 2010 and 2011 than it had previously reported to The
American Lawyer, causing the publication to issue a correct@igr LattmanProsecutors
Scrutinize ExX-ead of DeweyN.Y. Times, Apr. 28, 2013vailable at
http://dealbook.nytimes.com/2012/04/27/ng@rk-prosecutorexaminingformerdewey
chairman/?_r=pPeter LattmanTeetering, Dewey Ousts HHead From PostN.Y. Times, Apr.
29, 2012available athttp://dealbook.nytimes.com/2012/04/29/devielyoeufoustsex-head
stevenh-davis/(state prosecutorgvestigation triggered by evidence of possible financial
improprieties provided by several Firm partners, including managemmeisisading of lenders
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pending bankruptcgr criminal investigation all of this information waseadily available to her
so that she must be charged with constructive knowledge $éé&, e.gDrake, 993 A.2dat 617
(charging plaintiff with constructive knowledge of informatitiat wascontained in publicly
available land recordshlkasabi v. Washington Mut. Bank, F.B1 F. Supp. 3d 101, 109
(D.D.C. 2014) (because bank’s bankruptcy was “widely publicized,” and notice of its FDIC
receivership was published in newspapers of general circulptantiffs had constructive
knowledge of those fagts

By extension, a reasonable person in Sandza’s position wouldbameurred bythis
informationto investigatdurther, and in doing so, she would hagarhednore than enough to
file her claimwithin the threeyear limitations period SeeDiamond 680 A.2dat 389-90.
Plaintiff all but acknowledges as muclsegPl.’s Opp’n at 34 (disclosure of the Firm’s
problems “would have given her fair warning that . . . certain material facts haderot
disclosed to her, i.e., undisclosed debt obligations, inflated earnings projections, and phony
invoices’). Sheinsteadtakes issue with the news articles’ reliabiliégyguing that disclosure by
Barclays would have been more reliabte thus put her on sufficient notic&Sef id) But even
if one can fairlyquestionthereliability of the New York Times, the Wall Stitegdournal, Fortune,
ReutersBloombergand TheAmerican Lawyer, a reasonable person would still have sought
moreinformation fromthe Firmis current or former partnersndeed, plaintiff alleges that she
would have done precisely this, if informedBgrclaysof the financial problems. (See Compl.

1 73 (“Had Barclays disclosed the truth . . . [she] woulghaitially discussed the Firrs’

about Firm’s financial condition); Ashby Jon&gewey’s Former Chairman Lawyers Ufpr.
30, 2012available athttp://blogs.wsj.com/law/2012/04/30/dewelgsmerchairmanlawyers
up/ (describing Manhattan DA'’s investigation into “goings-on at Dewey, withquaati focus on
[former Firm chairman Steven] Davis”).
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financial plan with the remaining partners at D&b that she . . . could take steps to protect
herself.”) In short, a reasonably diligent investigation would hewefirmed (1) her injury (he
capital contributios and deferred compensation that neauld almost certainly never be
repaid); (2) its causen fact (the non-disclosure dhe Firm’s financial troubleat the time she
took out her loans and agreed to defer receipt of her capital contributions); and (3) some
evidence ofvrongdoing the allegations of fraud by Firmanagement SeeDrake, 993 A.2dat
617. Thus, plaintiff had inquiry notice of her claims more than three years priongo déihd her
state law claimare therefor@intimely2

Plaintiff raises numerous objections to being charged with inquiry noticd, $fies
argues that the Court cannot take judicial notice of these news articles,ebteguare “classic
hearsay” and thus inherently unreliabl&eéPl.’s Opp’n at 32.) However, the Court is not
accepting these articles for the truth of their assertions, but rather facthleat they contained
certain information, which (true or not) should haveaintiff on notice of the need to
investigate her pential claims.SeeFed. R. Evid. 801(c)(2). Taking judicial notice of the

existencef these articles is entirely propebsee Washington Post v. Robins®85 F.2d 282,

8 Because every one of the articles cegrann.6-7 was published more than three years before
plaintiff filed hercomplaint, it is unnecessary to locate a precise date on which she had inquiry
notice. Suffice it to say that she certainly had such notice by thetithe May 11, 2012

Reuters articldy Longstreth & Raymond-Fhe Dewey chronicles: The rise and fall of a legal
titan. That article stated thatanagement “often withheld crucial information from their
partners;” that the Firm “never made its budget targets after the merger; delkatritis $125

million bond offering March 2010—the month before Sandza'sidepe—-"suggested that [the
Firm] needed money it could not immediately repay;” that in October 2011, the fagne“a
startling disclosure about [compensation] guarantees,the “inflated contracts” alleged by
plaintiff; that a criminal investigatiowas underway; and that “[g]iven Dewey’s immense
liabilities, no one has offered a likely scenario under which the partnership coulesuitdi

Most, if not all, of this information was already available elsewfsse suprann.6-7), but the
Reuters gicle simply laid it outstarkly and comprehensively. That information was more than
sufficient to give rise to a duty of inquiry, and thus the limitations period had begun to run by
then, at the very latesGeeDiamond 680 A.2dat 389-90.
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291 (D.C. Cir. 1991§a “court may take judicial notice of the existence of newsparfieles in
the Washington, D.C., area that publicizedrtain facts).

Second, she argues thah a motion to dismiss, the Court cannot take judicial notice that
there has been “extensive press coverage,” a finding of fact that she argukbevoetessary
to charge her with inquiry noticeS¢ePl.’s Opp’n at 31-32.) Nowhere does she cite authority
suggesting that ingry notice depends upon the number of articles published, and in fact, courts
have found inquiry notice where the informaterailable to plaintifivas far moreneager or
inaccessible Seg e.g, Drake 993 A.2dat 617 (finding on a motion to dismiss that publicly
available land records gave plaintiff access to all the necessary facts to puireliry notice);
Hughes v. Vanderbilt Uniy215 F.3d 543, 548 (6th Cir. 2000) (finding on a motion to dismiss
that two aricles by each of Nashville’s two leading newspapansl a report by Nashville’s CBS
affiliate, were sufficient to trigger inquiry noticéghah v. Stanley2004 WL 2346716, at *8
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 19, 2004) (findingn a motion to dismiss that two articlesHortune were
sufficient to triggelinquiry notice). Therefore, the Court need not find that the press coverage
was “extensivg it simply finds that the press coverage wafficient as a matter of layto put
a reasonable person on notice of the need to investigate.

Finally, she argues th#te press coverage could not hadequatelyput her on notice
because none of it mentioned BarclaySedPl.’s Opp’n at 35.) But as discussed, a plaintiff
need not be awaxd every fact pertaining to heause of action before the limitations period
begins to run.SeeDiamond 680 A.2dat 389-90. And, as particularly relevant heribg"
relationship of the defendants, together with other facts, may establishaatesof law that a
reasonable plaintiff with knowledge of the misconduct of one would have conducted an

investigation as to the othérld. at 380.
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In Diamond plaintiff alleged an elaborate conspiracy between the lawyer defending hi
in a tax fraud case, his lawyer’s firm, the federal judge presiding ovephisaud case, and the
Reynoldsfamily, whichowned a companggainst whonplaintiff had separately brought a civil
RICO case.See idat 385. In short, he alleged that his lawyer, who also represented the J.
Sargent Reynolds estate and whose firm represented Reynolds Metals, adviseddive &
jury trial in order to give control over theerdictto the federal judge, who had a close personal
relaionship with the Reynolds family and served as executor for the J. Sargent Reytatds es
See id.When the judge then convicted him of feaud, plaintiff alleged thate conspiracy
succeededn that he was subsequently discredited in his failed RICO suit against Reynolds
Metals. See id.Plaintiff argued that his claims against the lawyers were notliemed because
thelawyersfraudulently concealetheir conflicted representation of Reynolds Metals, and thus,
he lacked knowledge of a cruclalk in the alleged conspiracysee idat 385-86. The D.C.
Court of Appeals disagreed, finding that he had sufficient knowledge to trigger ingticg:he
knew of his injury (the tax fraud conviction)s cause (the judge’s verdict facilitated by his
lawyer’s advice to waiveuyy trial); therelationship between the judge and the Reynolds family;
the relationship between his lawyer and the judge, who worked together in egehatd.
Sargent Reynolds estatmd the firm’s representation of another member of the Reynolds
family. See idat385-89. Armed with that knowledge, particularly the working relationship
between the firm and the Reynolds family, a reasonable person would haveyatedshirrther
and found public documents revealing the firm’s representation of Reynolds Matald. at
388.

The D.C. Circuit has also followed this approach, affirming dismissal of a eorhpl

where press reports put plaintiff on inquiry notice of an alleged conspiracyyderallot
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access, even though the reports failed to name all of thedltsgonspirators.See Nader v.
Democratic Nat Comm, 567 F.3d 692, 701 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (applying D.C. law) (Washington
Post article discussedlegal campaign against plaintiff wagday‘the Democratic Pargnd
like-minded groupy (emphasis added)The Court found that plaintiff was already aware of the
allegedly improper conduct, and thus his later discovery of additional co-conspadttret
alter the fundamental nature of the wrong at issie."The Court next considered whether,
even ifthe plaintiffs claims against known conspirators were time-barred, he could still pursue
claims against the unknown conspirators, but again it found he coul®&eetdat 702. It held
thatthe relationship between the Decnatic Party and the unknown conspirators (the
Democratic National Committee and the KeEgwards campaign) was sufficiently close that a
reasonable person would have investig#ted potential involvementSee id.

Taken togetheDiamondandNaderforecloseplaintiff's assertion that press coverage
could only put her on inquiry notigeit mentioned BarclaysThe press coverage put her o
notice of bothithe Firm’s problemsind wtential fraudoy Firm management in covering those
problems up. %ee supran.6-7.) $%e washusalertedto herinjury, its cause in facgndthe
likelihood of wrongdoindyy Barclays’ alleged coonspiratorsat the Firm As inNader,
plaintiff's discoveryof Barclays’ alleged involvemenlid not “alter the fundamental nature of
the wrong at issue’se€e567 F.3d at 701she made certain financial decisions without material
facts, and whether the Firm alowéhheld (or misrepresented) those factswhether Barclays
also participateds largely irrelevanto her injury. And, as in bottDiamondandNader,
plaintiff was aware of the closeorking relationship between Barclays and the Fsuch that a
reasonable person would have investigated Barclays’ potential involvement. Hélkstew that

Barclays had extended the Firm two unsecured loans worth $35 milBeeCdmpl 11 22, 34.)
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By extension, she knew that, “as a prime institutional lender to D&L, Barcdagsved periodic
financial statements and other customary informdtom D&L.” (Seed. 1 28.) Nextshe

knew thatBarclays and the Firm egponsored the partner loan program, the proceeds of which
she believes was used to repay Barctayshe Firm’s loans.Id. 11 25(c), 38.) Shalsoknew

that Barclays had been fully repaid as of December 26 § 38),in contrast to the

remaining creditors that pushed the Firm into bankruptcy.

In terms of defaults, she knew what her own loan agreement did (or did not) require of
the Firm,and she could have inquired of current and former Firm partners about whether the
Firm was living up to those obligation#ost crucially, she concedes thaaining of the Firm’s
problems “would have given her fair warning that . . . certain material facts haderot
disclosed to her, i.e., undisclosed debt obligationSgePl.’s Opp’n at 34.) That concession is
critical. If the articles would havigpped her off to the undisclosed defaults, then they would
almost certainljhave tipped her off to Barclays’ involvement—it is hard to imagine how such
defaults ould have gone unremedied or undisclosed without Barclays’ approval of, and/or
participationin, the alleged scheme.

The Court recognizes that “[w]hewcrual actually occurred in a particular case is a
guestion of fact Diamond 680 A.2dat 370,so it cannot make that determination at this stage
unless no reasonable fact-finder could find otherwise. But where a former paraner

international law firm is owed nearly a million dollars by thah, the Court finds that, as a

® Whether or not she had actual knowledgalbéf these factsit the timeof the press coverage
her complainmakes clear that tgavere then readily avaitde to her in the Firm’s audited
financial statement&eeCompl. 11 22, 34, 38), and thuseasonablyiligent investigation

would have turned them uiseeRay, 747 A.2dat1141-42 (relevant inquiry is what a reasonable
plaintiff would do with “whatever information wasvailableto [her]”) (emphasis added).
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matter of lawno reasonable person would have failed to take note of even one of the scores of

national news articles putting her on notice of her potential claims.

CONCLUSION
Thedefendantsimotions to dismiss will b6 GRANTED. A separate order accompanies

this Memoradum Opinion.

/sl
ELLEN SEGAL HUVELLE
United States District Judge

Date: Decembe22, 2015
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